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The FDIC’s reported investigation into Voyager Digital’s statements about FDIC insurance coverage
means that fintechs with bank partnerships should carefully review any of their statements about
such coverage.

The FDIC’s reported investigation into Voyager Digital

According to media reports, the FDIC is investigating statements made by the fintech Voyager Digital that implied that its
customers qualified for FDIC insurance in the case of Voyager Digital’s bankruptcy.  Representing or implying that a
liability is protected by FDIC insurance when it is not is a violation of Section 18(a)(4) of the Federal Deposit Insurance
Act and, since July 5, is also a violation of a new FDIC rule implementing the statute.
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This client update provides the background on both the pre-existing statutory provision and the FDIC’s new rule
implicated in the reported investigation of Voyager Digital. The timing and context of the rule’s adoption make clear that
one of the FDIC’s primary motivations in adopting the rule is the rise of fintech-bank partnerships, which have led to
website marketing materials describing FDIC deposit insurance.  The FDIC has stated its belief that the final rule will
primarily affect non-bank entities and individuals.  In light of the new rule, fintechs with bank partnerships should be
extremely careful about how they describe the availability of FDIC insurance coverage for customer funds held at FDIC-
insured banks.
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The FDIC’s regulation of misleading advertising

Statute

Section 18(a)(4) of the Federal Deposit Insurance Act (FDI Act), which was added to the FDI Act in 2008,  contains two
prohibitions. The first states that “[n]o person may represent or imply” that any obligation is FDIC-insured, when it is not,
by using certain prohibited terms as part of the person’s business name or advertisement, solicitation or other document.
 The second provides that “[n]o person may knowingly misrepresent” that an obligation is insured under the Federal

Deposit Insurance Act, when it is not, or the extent or manner of any insurance, when it is not insured to that extent or in
that manner.  The statute also empowers the FDIC and other Federal banking agencies to bring enforcement actions
against persons who violate the prohibitions.
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Rule

The FDIC recently issued a rule implementing Section 18(a)(4) of the FDI Act.  The rule, proposed in May 2021, was
passed in May 2022, and became effective on July 5, 2022.
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The rule includes provisions that closely track the wording of the two statutory prohibitions.  But it also includes
examples for the first prohibition that arguably expand the scope of that prohibition by substituting the words “suggests or
implies” for the statutory words “represents or implies.”  Similarly, it includes examples for the second prohibition that
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https://www.law.cornell.edu/uscode/text/12/1828


arguably expand the scope of that prohibition by substituting the words “representation, suggestion or implication” or
variations on those words for “knowing representations.”13

Enforcement and whistleblowing

The federal banking agency responsible for investigating and enforcing these provisions of the FDI Act depends on the
status of the alleged violator.  For entities that do not have a federal banking agency regulator, like non-bank fintechs,
the FDIC has authority.  For entities for which the FDIC does not have primary authority (e.g., a state bank that is a
member of the Federal Reserve), it has back-up enforcement authority.
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Since the prohibitions were added to Section 18 of the FDI Act in 2008, there has been only one public enforcement
order.  But, critically, the preamble to the final rule states that the FDIC entered into at least 165 informal – that is, non-
public, confidential – enforcement actions regarding the misuse of the FDIC’s name or logo or misrepresentations about
deposit insurance, between January 1, 2019 and December 31, 2020.  The preamble also states that the FDIC expects
the final rule to “apply to relatively few formal enforcement actions and conservatively estimates that it will affect fewer
than 165 informal resolutions with non-bank entities and individuals each year.”  Of course, the informal enforcement
actions are not public, but we believe the fact that the FDIC chose to make public that it had engaged in 165 informal
actions in a recent two-year period suggests that the agency may have engaged in a sweep of the street to clean up
various problems. It cannot be known for certain whether the FDIC’s estimate that the rule will affect fewer than 165
informal resolutions each year reflects that any such clean-up has occurred. We think that, especially in light of the
current crypto troubles and the Voyager Digital situation, fintechs would be wise not to read these statements as signals
of non-enforcement. Instead, the statements signal that enforcement is likely to continue to be mainly confidential and
non-public.
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In addition to the FDIC’s general enforcement authority – formal and public or informal and confidential – the new rule
creates a process for individuals and institutions to report suspected instances of misleading advertising, which could
trigger FDIC investigations and informal processes.  The rule creates a point-of-contact for receiving complaints and
inquiries about potential misrepresentations and allows customers of fintechs to report potential misrepresentations.
The term whistleblowing is not used by the FDIC but, in effect, the process created is just that, even though there is,
unlike with the SEC, no monetary incentive.
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Looking forward

The rule, which arguably expands the scope of some prohibitions of the statute, and the agency’s statement that it
believes the rule will primarily affect non-bank entities, are all signs that fintechs with bank partnerships may be targets of
the FDIC. The agency’s reported investigation into Voyager Digital’s statements about deposit insurance may just be the
beginning of an increase in enforcement.  Fintechs in existing bank partnerships should carefully review their website
disclosures and contracts to make sure that their statements are in compliance with the statute and the new regulation,
and fintechs considering entering into such partnerships should be particularly careful about how they advertise the
availability of FDIC insurance and describe it in their customer contracts.

The FDIC is not the only agency taking a hard stance on combatting misrepresentations about deposit insurance
coverage.  The CFPB released a circular on May 17, 2022, highlighting that misrepresentations about deposit insurance
“may be particularly relevant with respect to new financial products or services, especially those involving new
technologies such as digital assets, including crypto-assets.”  The circular also emphasized that misrepresentations
about deposit insurance coverage may violate the Consumer Financial Protection Act’s prohibition on unfair, deceptive,
or abusive acts or practices, thereby allowing for an additional cause of action.
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Fintechs should watch these spaces carefully.

Law clerk Nausherwan Aamir contributed to this update.
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This communication, which we believe may be of interest to our clients and friends of the firm, is for general
information only. It is not a full analysis of the matters presented and should not be relied upon as legal advice.
This may be considered attorney advertising in some jurisdictions. Please refer to the firm’s privacy notice for
further details.

Voyager Digital filed for Chapter 11 bankruptcy protection on July 5, 2022. Voyager Digital’s July 5 bankruptcy petition is available here.1

False Advertising, Misrepresentation of Insured Status, and Misuse of the FDIC’s Name or Logo, Final Rule, 87 Federal Register 33415 (June 2,
2022), available here.

2

See Request for Information on FDIC Sign and Advertising Requirements and Potential Technological Solutions, Notice and Request for
Comment, 85 Federal Register 10997, 10998 (Feb. 26, 2020), available here (noting that websites of certain nonbanks, such as fintechs and
prepaid account providers, may include confusing or misleading statements concerning the availability of deposit insurance and explaining that
the FDIC’s advertising statement requirements did not reflect changes in technology and “evolving banking channels and operations.”

3

See note 2, at 33418.4

Pub. L. No. 110-343, § 126(a), 122 Stat. 3765 (2008); see note 2, at 33418.5

12 U.S.C. § 1828(a)(4)(A).6

12 U.S.C. § 1828(a)(4)(B).7
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12 U.S.C. § 1828(a)(4)(C), (D) and (E).8

12 U.S.C. § 1828(a)(4).9

False Advertising, Misrepresentation of Insured Status, and Misuse of the FDIC’s Name or Logo, Final Rule, 87 Federal Register 33415 (June 2,
2022), available here.

10

Compare 12 U.S.C. § 1828(a)(4)(A) with 12 C.F.R. § 328.102(a)(1), (2) and 12 U.S.C. §1828(a)(4)(B) with 12 C.F.R. § 328.102(b)(1).11

Compare 12 U.S.C. § 1828(a)(4)(A) with 12 C.F.R. § 328.102(a)(3).12

Compare 12 U.S.C. § 1828(a)(4)(B) with 12 C.F.R. § 328.102(b)(2), (3) and (4).13

12 U.S.C. § 1828(a)(4)(C).14

12 U.S.C. § 1828(a)(4)(E).15

12 U.S.C. § 1828(a)(4)(D).16

FDIC, Amerilife CD Final 18 June 2009.doc (fdic.gov).17

See note 2, at 33418.18

Id.19

12 C.F.R. §§ 328.103-107.20

12 C.F.R. § 328.103.21

CFPB, CFPB Takes Action to Protect Depositors from False Claims About FDIC Insurance | Consumer Financial Protection Bureau
(consumerfinance.gov).
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CFPB¸ Consumer Financial Protection Circular 2022-02: Deceptive representations involving the FDIC’s name or logo or deposit insurance |
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (consumerfinance.gov).
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12 U.S.C. §§ 5531, 5536.24
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